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STATE OF ILLINOIS 

ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION 

Illinois Commerce Commission : 
On Its Own Motion : 

: 
-vs- : 

: 
Ameren Illinois Company : 22-0109 

d/b/a Ameren Illinois : 
: 

Approval of agreed penalty for : 
violations of federal rules incorporated : 
by the Illinois Commerce Commission : 
and 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590 : 

ORDER 

By the Commission: 

Under Section 3 of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act (“Act”) (220 ILCS 20/3), the 
Illinois Commerce Commission ("Commission") is required to 

adopt rules establishing minimum safety standards for the transportation of 
gas and for pipeline facilities. Such rules shall be at least as inclusive, as 
stringent, and compatible with, the minimum safety standards adopted by 
the Secretary of Transportation under the Federal Act. 

The Commission has incorporated by reference applicable federal rules at 83 Ill. Adm. 
Code 590, Minimum Safety Standards for Transportation of Gas and for Gas Pipeline 
Facilities (“Part 590”). At the time relevant here, Section 590.10(a) incorporated 49 CFR 
191, 192, 193, and 199 as minimum standards for the transportation of gas and for gas 
pipeline facilities. 

In a Staff Report dated November 22, 2021, the Staff of the Commission’s Safety 
and Reliability Division details alleged violations of those standards by Ameren Illinois 
Company d/b/a Ameren Illinois for its failure to comply with specified minimum safety 
standards incorporated by Part 590. Ameren is a “person” as defined by Section 2.01 of 
the Act engaged in owning or operating of pipeline facilities and therefore is subject to the 
Act. Section 6(a)(1) provides that each person subject to the Act shall “at all times after 
the date any applicable safety standard established under this Act takes effect comply 
with the requirements of such standard.” 220 ILCS 20/6(a)(1). 
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 As the Staff Report recounts, on November 16, 2016, the Commission’s pipeline 
safety division was called to investigate an explosion that had occurred earlier that day in 
Canton. The explosion, caused by the ignition of natural gas that had escaped from a 
break in a gas line, destroyed a commercial building and required that four persons be 
hospitalized; one of the persons later died from his injuries. 
 
 At the conclusion of the investigation, Staff identified three violations of the relevant 
federal regulations. The first violation, based on 49 CFR § 192.605(b)(3), concerned the 
company’s failure to have up-to-date information on the facility map used by company 
personnel at the scene. During the investigation, Staff determined that while valves were 
installed at two nearby locations and were on the Ameren as-built maps, the locations of 
the valves were not transcribed onto the facility maps available to the field employees. 
Closing the valves would have isolated the lines in the vicinity from the gas supply. 
Because of the seriousness of this failure, Staff proposed a penalty of $18,000 for the 
violation. 
 
 The second violation arose from the requirement of 49 CFR § 192.605(a) that the 
company prepare and follow a manual of written procedures for conducting operations 
and maintenance activities and for emergency response. This violation involved the 
failure of company personnel to conduct an adequate leak investigation to determine the 
extent to which the escaping gas had penetrated underground areas in the vicinity. The 
gas was allowed to migrate into the nearby commercial structure, reaching a hazardous 
concentration and eventually exploding. Because of the failure by Ameren employees to 
conduct an adequate leak investigation, Staff proposed a maximum penalty of $200,000 
for the violation. 
 
 The third violation, also involving 49 CFR § 192.605(a), concerned the failure of 
company personnel to minimize the hazards resulting from the gas pipeline emergency.  
Although a customer informed Ameren personnel at the scene of the strong smell of gas 
(odorant) inside a building where gas was accumulating, an inside leak investigation was 
not performed at that location; the customer confirmed that no Ameren employees 
entered the building. The building later exploded. Given the failure by Ameren employees 
to conduct an adequate leak investigation, Staff proposed a maximum penalty of 
$200,000 for this violation. 
 
 On December 3, 2020, Staff sent Ameren a Notice of Probable Violation (“NOPV”).  
The notice specified the violations summarized above, the total amount of penalties being 
imposed for the violations, and a list of corrective actions for Ameren to undertake. In 
response, Ameren generally agreed with the corrective actions proposed by Staff but 
asked that payment of the fine be directed to the Illinois JULIE program. Staff rejected 
that alternative, noting that section 7(e) of the Act requires that “[a]ll penalties recovered 
by the State in any action shall be paid into the general fund of the State Treasury.” 
Following further discussion, Staff and Ameren agreed that the company would pay fines 
totaling $418,000 for the three notices of violation and would undertake corrective actions 



3 

 

identified by the company and Staff. The Staff Report notes that Ameren has not admitted 
to any liability in agreeing to settle the matters alleged in the NOPV.  Addressing this 
point, Section 7(b) of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act provides, “Unless specifically 
stated otherwise in the terms and conditions of any compromise agreement, any 
compromise of a penalty recommended in an NOPV by the person charged shall not be 
deemed to be an admission of liability.”  220 ILCS 20/7(b). 
 
 The Staff Report includes a letter from Ameren accepting the terms of the agreed 
settlement. Section 7(b) of the Act provides: 
 

Any civil penalty may be compromised by the Commission or, subject to this 
Act, by the pipeline safety manager. In determining the amount of the 
penalty, or the amount agreed upon in compromise, the Commission or, 
subject to this Act, the pipeline safety manager, as the case may be, shall 
consider the appropriateness of the penalty to the size of the business of 
the person charged, the gravity of the violation, and the good faith of the 
person charged in attempting to achieve compliance, after notification of a 
violation. 220 ILCS 20/7(b). 

 
Staff recommends that the Commission approve the agreed penalty amount of $418,000 
and the corrective actions to be taken, as allowed by Section 7 of the Act. Upon 
Commissions approval, Staff will advise Ameren that it has 30 days to remit payment. 
 
 Under Section 7(f) of the Act, the manager of the Pipeline Safety Division is to 
report to the Commission the payment of a penalty made under section 7(b) and seek 
approval by the Commission of the penalty. Section 7(f) provides: 
 

In the event any penalty recommended by the pipeline safety manager is 
paid by the person charged in the applicable NOPV in accordance with 
subsection (b) of this Section or in accordance with the terms and conditions 
of a compromise, agreed upon by such person and the pipeline safety 
manager, then the pipeline safety manager shall report, and request 
approval of, each such payment of a recommended penalty or agreed 
compromise, as the case may be, to the Commission at a public meeting of 
the Commission and shall also post such report on the Commission's 
website as a public document subject to the requirements of Section 4-404 
of the Public Utilities Act. Whenever such report and request for approval 
shall be made to the Commission, the Commission shall have the power, 
and it is hereby given authority, either upon complaint or upon its own 
motion, upon reasonable notice given within 45 days after such report and 
request for approval was made at a public meeting of the Commission, to 
enter upon a hearing concerning the propriety of the applicable NOPV, 
payment, or compromise. In the event the Commission does not exercise 
this power within the 45-day period, the payment or agreed compromise 
referenced in the report shall be deemed approved by the Commission by 
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operation of law at the expiration of the 45-day period and the NOPV and 
related investigation shall be deemed closed. 

 
Thus, the Commission may approve payment of the penalty, or it may "enter upon a 
hearing" of the matter. If the Commission does not expressly approve the penalty, then 
failure by the Commission to undertake a hearing within 45 days after the public meeting 
at which the report of the matter is made shall be deemed to be an approval. 
 
 The Staff Report presents a sufficient basis for the Commission's approval of the 
payment of $418,000 by Ameren as the penalty for the NOPV involved here, together 
with its agreement to undertake corrective actions for those deficiencies. 
 
 The Commission, being fully advised in the premises, is of the opinion and finds 
that: 
 

(1) the Commission has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this proceeding; 
 
(2) Ameren Illinois Company d/b/a Ameren Illinois is subject to the Illinois Gas 

Pipeline Safety Act in that it is a person that engages in the transportation 
of gas or who owns or operates pipeline facilities; 

 
(3) Ameren Illinois Company d/b/a Ameren Illinois should be made a 

respondent to this proceeding; 
 
(4) the recitals of fact set forth in the prefatory portion of this Order are 

supported by the record and should be adopted as findings of fact; 
 
(5) the Staff Report dated November 22, 2021, should be filed in this docket 

and made a part of the record of this proceeding; and 
 
(6) the amount of the agreed penalty, $418,000, together with corrective 

actions for the violations alleged here should be approved. 
 

 IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED by the Illinois Commerce Commission that 
payment of the agreed penalty of $418,000 and the undertaking of corrective actions by 
Ameren Illinois Company d/b/a Ameren Illinois for the Notice of Probable Violations 
involved here is approved. 
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Ameren Illinois Company d/b/a Ameren Illinois 
be made respondent to this proceeding. 
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Staff Report dated November 22, 2021, be 
made a part of the record of this proceeding. 
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 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, subject to the provisions of Section 10-113 of the 
Public Utilities Act and 83 Ill. Adm. Code 200.880, this Order is final; it is not subject to 
the Administrative Review Law. 
 
 By order of the Commission this 3rd day of February, 2022. 
 
 
 
       (SIGNED) CARRIE ZALEWSKI 
 
               Chairman 
 


